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ABOUT THE RNA

report 2008

Our Mission
To promote and encourage the development of the agricultural,
pastoral, horticultural, industrial, manufacturing and cultural resources
of the State of Queensland.
Our Vision
To provide a vibrant destination with leading educational and event facilities
and activities to capture the heart and mind of all Queenslanders, from
the country to the city.
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About the RNA

Since then, the shortened name ‘EkkA’

In 1875 the National Agricultural and Industrial

vernacular, demonstrating locals’ affection

Association of Queensland formed to organise

for the annual Show.

the first Queensland Inter-colonial Exhibition. Its
declared mission was to promote and encourage
the development of the agricultural, pastoral,
horticultural, industrial, manufacturing and
cultural resources of the State of Queensland.

The first Show
In 1876, the ‘Inter-colonial Exhibition’ was held
from 22-26 August and proved a triumph beyond
all expectation. A public holiday was declared
and, on opening day, 17,000 people attended
– a great feat at a time when the total population
of Brisbane was only 22,000. Men attended in

has replaced ‘Exhibition’ in the Queensland

Today the RNA represents around 5,000
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not only the EkkA but hundreds of other events
and activities each year. The EkkA however
remains the RNA’s landmark event, running
over 10 days at the same site of the very first
Show. In August 2008, it attracted around
500,000 visitors keen to experience the Show’s

food was served on long tables.

Showground’s largest event, as custodians

warrant from His Majesty King George V.

Chief Executive - Jonathan Tunny
Event
Production
Manager

members and the RNA Showgrounds hosts

Although the EkkA remains the RNA

the Association was granted the prefix under

Executive Council

The RNA today

their suits, ladies in their finest garments and

The first ‘Royal’ Show was held in 1921, when

RNA Council

of the site it has always been the RNA’s duty
to make the most of this important piece of
Queensland’s history while also realising its
full future potential.
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around 500,000 people
attended the Royal Show
for 10 days in August
PRESIDENT’S AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
Welcome to the 2008 Annual Report. The past year has been one of the most
eventful in the modern history of the Royal National Agricultural
and Industrial Association of Queensland. As a member or key stakeholder
of the RNA, we’d like to thank you for your interest and belief in the RNA
report 2008

and hope you share our enthusiasm for the future.
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The year in review
It has been a very positive year for the RNA.
In 2008, Queenslanders showed their love

community as well as the State and Federal
Governments, and Brisbane City Council
throughout the year.

for the EkkA and the RNA Showgrounds with

The costs for the redevelopment project to date

around 500,000 people descending on the

have been treated in a conservative manner and

Royal Queensland Show for 10 days in August.

expensed as they occur.

The increase in EkkA visitor figures in 2008 can
be attributed to a number of factors, including
the introduction of online ticketing and a range of
new and exciting exhibitions and events.
Following the completion of the North-South
Bypass Tunnel, the RNA was compensated with
a refurbished Main Arena.
Our marketing and communication material
for the Show keeps getting better and better too.

Opening up the RNA
Showgrounds
The RNA Development Scheme Strategy was
announced to a large media audience on 4 April
2008 in the Council Stand, overlooking the grand
Main Arena.
The media launch was the culmination of months
of planning and close collaboration with key

We were delighted to receive awards from the

stakeholders to ensure the media conference

International Association of Fairs and Expositions

coincided with the State Government’s

in the USA for our newsletters and website.

announcement of the Bowen Hills Interim Land

And, of course, 2008 was a significant year in

Use Plan.

terms of the future direction of the RNA, the

As an integral part of the region’s redevelopment,

EkkA and the RNA Showgrounds as a whole.

the media was keen to hear how and when the

We publically announced our RNA Development

RNA Showgrounds would be transformed into a

Scheme Strategy in April and engaged the

mixed-use, year-round cultural and lifestyle hub.

report 2008

PRESIDENT’S AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REPORT
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Following presentations and interviews, attending

At the RNA, we will continue to keep the

media, which ranged from television and radio

long-term picture in mind. We have committed

to national and state print publications, took the

to transform the RNA Showgrounds into a

opportunity to tour the RNA Showgrounds.

world-class lifestyle hub over the next 15 years

It was important for the media to photograph

and, while the economic slowdown is a genuine

and film certain venues around the site to really

concern for many businesses, we will press

appreciate the need for major refurbishment –

forward with the help of our development partner.

especially in the Industrial Pavilion and Large
Animal Pavilion.

We went through a thorough ‘detailed development
process’ with shortlisted proponents in 2008

Since the announcement, the feedback we have

and will announce the successful party midway

received from media and the public has been

through 2009. Following this year’s EkkA,

very positive. We have undertaken an exhaustive
community consultation program and carried out
quantitative and qualitative research to gain input
into our plans.
At EkkA 2008, we hosted an information stand
where show-goers learned more about the RNA
Development Scheme Strategy and lodged
their feedback.
Everyone at the RNA has taken this process

development work will start on the Industrial and
Large Animal Pavilions.
The goal, of course, is to evolve the RNA
Showgrounds to ensure the Royal Queensland
Show remains relevant to our members and
all Queenslanders with the upgraded venues
providing more useable and attractive event and
exhibition space.

of information sharing very seriously and we

We are financially strong and have employed

have been delighted to share our vision for the

industry-renowned professionals to help us

site, the EkkA and the entire organisation with

achieve our plans. This is the cusp of a new

all our key stakeholders.

era and a very exciting time to be involved with

Sadly, in late December 2008, Honorary

the RNA.

Councillor, Mr Alex Nason MBE OAM, passed
away. Alex was a great supporter of the RNA
and will be missed by many.

2009 and beyond

Dr Vivian Edwards OAM

President

While 2008 finished with talk of a moderating
economic climate the RNA remains dedicated to
providing long-term support and leadership to the
Agricultural and Industrial sectors of Queensland.

Jonathan Tunny Chief Executive

HIGHLIGHTS FOR

report 2008

>
>
>
>

Sponsorship income increase of 15%
Increase in bar sales by 25%
EkkA gate receipts improved on last year by 44%
Successful introduction of new main arena night program format, specifically
designed to target a younger demographic in the second half of the night
> Very successful concert series in Nova Park with over 15 bands playing to
a packed house every night
> Revenue from providing car parking to Royal Brisbane Hospital precinct
staff saw a 30% increase on last year

RNA Annual
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EkkA-specific highlights
•

•

The RNA introduced new online tools such

•

as electronic ticketing, online registration

displays, entertainment, animal competitions

and an electronic itinerary builder which

and more than 55 new exhibitors with an

proved extremely successful. Over 20,000

exciting array of healthy new food and

entry tickets were purchased within days and

other products from across the country.

website traffic was up 30 percent on last year.

The RNA established a public display in
the Woolworths Fresh Food Pavilion to talk

In the countdown to Queensland’s 150th

to visitors about the Development

celebrations, Premier Anna Bligh called on

Scheme Strategy.

Queenslanders to vote for the icons they
believe define the Queensland identity,

•

EkkA 2008 attracted new educational

•

This years’ ‘My EkkA’ theme celebrated

mentioning the EkkA alongside the Story

the diversity of the Show and encouraged

Bridge and the Gabba as icons to be

visitors, including Prime Minister Kevin Rudd,

considered.

to tailor their EkkA experience to whatever
they wanted – education, entertainment,

Record numbers attended The Dairy Farmers
Milking Barn and RACQ Insurance Animal
Nursery in which baby animals were fed and
petted by more than 130,000 people. Beef
cattle competition entries were particularly
high and Thoroughbred Day offered a prize
pool of $40,000.

food or just fun!
•

Media partners helped drive very positive
messages and The Courier-Mail delivered
The EkkA Showguide to thousands of homes
across Queensland.

130,000
people
fed and
cuddleD
Baby
animals in
the RACQ
animal
nursery

HIGHLIGHTS FOR

report 2008

•

•

An increased presence was developed

•

Work on the Oval associated with the

for education in 2008. In celebration of the

construction of the North South Bypass

75th year of Show Camp local students

Tunnel – which runs directly beneath the

developed an innovative ‘fish bowl’ display

Main Arena – finished three months ahead

and produced The EkkA Courier for Show-

of schedule. New turf and a state-of-the-art,

goers to enjoy

laser-levelled playing surface meant the
Main Arena could, once again, host world-

The EkkA Learning Trail and supporting

class outdoor events.

10

more inclusive and referential resource for

RNA Annual

booklets were developed to create a
visiting school groups with more than 8,500

the world stage by winning a number of

distributed.

prestigious International Association of Fairs

•

In 2008, the RNA made an impression on

and Expositions awards, taking home first
•

School band entertainment was increased
throughout the Show due largely to a
partnership with Billy Hyde Music. More

prize for the Showbiz Newsletter.
•

in 2008 further bolstering the message the

than 120 school bands performed this year

RNA Showgrounds is open for business

across two stages with ensembles traveling

and ‘Ever Eventful’ all year round. The RNA

from as far afield as Cairns to attend.

Showgrounds hosted more than 180 events
during the year.

General highlights
•

In April 2008, the RNA released its RNA

•

The RNA was delighted with the
response from its Competitive Bid Process.

Development Scheme Strategy to the

Proponents were shortlisted with two

community and invited local residents,

parties finally submitting detailed plans

business owners and show-goers to

on 19 December 2008.

offer their feedback to ensure the plans
represent a venue for all Queenslanders.

A dedicated venue website was launched

•

A new asset maintenance planning system

The RNA Development Scheme Strategy

was prepared and implemented which resulted

is aligned with broader Queensland

in a significant improvement in the RNA’s

Government strategies such as the South

repairs and maintenance plan. This work

East Queensland Regional Plan and more

will ensure the RNA is ready to proactively

importantly with the Bowen Hills Urban

maintain the new and refurbished buildings

Development Area.

provided through the redevelopment.

THE MAIN EVENT - EkkA
“The EkkA endures as a consistent Queensland tradition full of qualities that
are treasured and loved, and as relevant today as they were a century ago.”
EkkA 2008
Long before shopping malls, theme parks and
the high-tech, whiz-bang world of the 21st
century, Queenslanders flocked to the RNA
the year… the EkkA. In 2008, much has changed
- including the EkkA. However, the EkkA endures
as a consistent Queensland tradition full of

This sentiment was strongly supported by
research which found Queenslanders have an
incredibly strong sense of pride and ownership
of the EkkA. They love the tradition of the Show
and, interestingly, the majority want to see it
grow to be bigger and even better.

qualities that are treasured and loved, and as

This overwhelming endorsement of the EkkA’s

12

relevant today as they were a century ago.

value and relevance to Queenslanders proved

RNA Annual
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Showgrounds for the most anticipated event of

Changing face of EkkA

Whether you know it as the EkkA, the Exhibition
or The Royal Queensland Show, this annual event
holds a special place in Queensland’s cultural

timely in the lead up to the unveiling of the
RNA’s Development Scheme Strategy in 2008.
The Strategy outlines the RNA’s redevelopment

heritage and in the hearts of all Queenslanders.

plans which will commence following EkkA 2009.

The theme of EkkA 2008 was ‘My EkkA’ which

As the RNA Showground’s largest event, the

celebrated everybody’s diverse EkkA traditions

EkkA is here to stay. The RNA maintains and

and encouraged all Queenslanders to personally

builds on its iconic status year after year and

tailor their EkkA experience.

the future redevelopment will mean more

It’s an event like no other in Australia – a fun-

exhibition space and significant and positive

filled extravaganza for all ages. The EkkA truly

changes to the EkkA in general. While 2008

captures the quintessential flavours of Queensland,

marked one of the last times the EkkA will be

celebrating frivolity, fashion, food, city, country,

seen in its familiar format, the history of the

competition, cultural diversity and good times.

EkkA will be safeguarded to ensure it remains

The EkkA has consistently proven to be one
of the highlights of the Brisbane calendar and
EkkA 2008 was hailed as one of the best ever,
with more than half a million Queenslanders –
including Prime Minister Kevin Rudd – passing
through the gates of the RNA Showgrounds.

the leading agricultural show in Australia –
where the county meets the city.

New additions
The EkkA has been described as a ‘Choose
Your Own Adventure’ book. Every year is a new

The EkkA is and always will be colloquial,

and exciting experience that draws hundreds

friendly, rustic, iconic, charming, and fun

of thousands of country and urban residents in

– in short, unmissable!

a celebration of the Queensland lifestyle.

In 2008, around half a
million visitors and
showbag-lovers were
treated to a choice of
hundreds of showbags

THE MAIN EVENT - EkkA

In 2008, the RNA introduced new shows,

$5,000 apiece to the band with best original

entertainment, animal competitions, online features

music and the best covers.

and educational displays. One of the most popular
places to be throughout the EkkA was The Energex
Community Arena which showcased “EkkA Ignites”,
report 2008

the new night-time program featuring the Dairy

RNA Annual
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The Dairy Farmers Milking Barn, which was
expanded in 2008, and RACQ Insurance Animal
Nursery, boasted record numbers and the
Woolworths Fresh Food Pavilion buzzed all day.

Farmers Fireworks and Laser Show.

Both the Bertie Beetle Bag and Nestlé Peter’s

Billy Hyde Music presented Urban Upbeat at EkkA,

legendary strawberry sundaes were in such

an event that brought the traditional offering of

demand they sold out on a number of occasions.

school band entertainment into a new competitive

Jack of all Trades kept DIY enthusiasts entertained

format. This dynamic addition to EkkA 2008 saw

while Peter’s Enchanted Park and the ABC for Kids

school bands perform not only for EkkA visitors,

concert delighted the little ones around the

but also for adjudicators.

Showgrounds.

Sky Walker was the newest carnival ride for

The EkkA Learning Trail was back as was

thrillseekers and, back on solid ground, new classes

Education on Show with a focus on sustainability.

across all competitions were introduced, bringing

EkkA 2008 marked the 75th anniversary of Show

the total classes to 9,517 – a truly impressive line up.

Camp, where students with a love of writing

At EkkA 2008, the RNA itself was on public display
in the Woolworths Fresh Food Pavilion where

became ‘EkkA journalists’ and produced their
own newspaper each day.

visitors were offered the opportunity to view 3D

Now well established as one of the best outdoor

animations and models showcasing the future

gigs in the city, Nova Live and Loud Concert Series

vision of the RNA Showgrounds.

@ EkkA returned in 2008 with three headlining acts
including Butterfingers, Regurgitator and Faker –

Old favourites

attracting thousands of fans to the Showgrounds.

EkkA 2008 welcomed back The Coffee Club

Future directions

Parades which, during the 10 days of the Show,
featured a wide range of established designers
as well as showcasing student designers from
Queensland University of Technology (QUT) and
the Metropolitan South Institute of TAFE (MSIT).

The RNA’s Future Directions Committee (FDC)
continues to focus its efforts on promoting its
activities to the 18-35 year-old market during
EkkA. This strategic process involves identifying,
organising and supporting events that encourage

The Nova 106.9 Rock School attracted Brisbane’s

younger Show-goers to engage with the RNA

best school bands to a competition which offered

and the EkkA.

THE MAIN EVENT - EkkA

In 2008, with several new members on board, the

The bursary was established to assist rural

FDC was involved with a number of new concepts

families with their children’s education. A cash

and events aimed at raising the profile of the RNA

payment is provided to assist students with

among younger people, encouraging networking

their living expenses.

between urban and rural demographics and
strengthening the educational role of the EkkA.

each to successful applicants enrolled full
time at the AACC.

Building on the educational aspects of the FDC’s

EkkA sponsors

focus, the RNA presently has an association with

Each year the EkkA receives support from

the following:

sponsors and media partners alike and 2008 was

•

no exception. Our heartfelt thanks go out to those

Coca- Cola Regional Scholarship Program

16

which is offered by the Australian Council of
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EkkA and education

This program offers four bursaries of $3,000

Agricultural Societies.
Nationally a total of 33 $2,000 scholarships are
available annually.
•

University of Queensland Undergraduate
Scholarships and Prizes.

There are four prizes awarded to successful
(highest achieving) applicants in the
following courses:
– Diploma of Applied Science
– Bachelor of Agricultural Science
(Rural Tech)
– Bachelor of Agricultural Science
(Horticulture)
– Bachelor of Agricultural Science
(Food Science and Nutrition)
•

Bursary Program with the Australian
Agricultural College Corporation (AACC).

companies that, year after year, participate in one
of Queensland’s iconic events.
The RNA also extends a very warm welcome to a
number of new sponsors of EkkA 2008 including
IKEA, Kitchen Connection and Landmark.
Landmark has come on board as the naming rights
sponsor of the Led Steer Jackpot competition,
the Junior Exhibitors Led Steer and Carcase
competition, the Prime Lambs competition, while
the Stud Sheep Schools Competition is another
activity supported by Landmark.

Grand Champion Sponsors:

Charitable RNA
Each year the RNA plays a philanthropic role
by contributing tickets under the Friends of the
EkkA program. The RNA supported Toc H, Police

champion Sponsors:

Legacy, Starlight Children’s Foundation, Brisbane
Tram and Bus Special Children’s Association and
various other schools and community groups.

The Australian Agricultural College Corporation

The RNA also provides venue space to the

RNA Bursary is open to first year students enrolled

Salvation Army each Christmas to provide

in a Certificate or Diploma course at a Queensland

storage for children’s Christmas presents for

agricultural college.

the Christmas appeal.

Blue Ribbon Sponsors:

EVENTS AND FESTIVALS

report 2008

The RNA Showgrounds is well on its way to becoming one of Queensland’s
leading lifestyle and cultural hubs.

RNA Annual
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The Courier-Mail The Sunday Mail
Home Show

venue, the RNA Showgrounds race village.

In March 2008, the RNA Showgrounds hosted

free family entertainment and activities.

The Courier-Mail The Sunday Mail Home Show.

The Sunday Mail Suncorp Bridge to Brisbane

The Show gave thousands of attendees the
opportunity to learn how to add value to their
property and make their home environmentally
friendly, as well as meet the experts while learning
about the myriad of new products and services
on the market.
Generations of Queensland families continue to
attend the Show which began back in the midsixties. Queensland’s largest Home Show is a must
for those with plans of building and renovating.

The Sunday Mail Suncorp Bridge
to Brisbane
Queensland’s biggest annual fun run, The Sunday
Mail Suncorp Bridge to Brisbane, made a number
of exciting changes in 2008 to cater for its
growing size. The race day was held on Sunday
7 September, the race lengths were changed to
standard ‘running’ distances of 5km and 10km,
and the finish line and race village relocated to

The many runners and walkers wound down
with friends and family to enjoy a morning of

fun run is scheduled for 30 August 2009 and
is expected to be bigger and better than ever.
Visit bridgetobrisbane.com.au for more details
or to enter.

Oktoberfest
Held during the last two weekends in September,
this traditional event continues to gain momentum
as an annual cultural celebration. This year,
Oktoberfest Brisbane’s new location at the
RNA Showgrounds provided easy access to
parking and public transport for the 20,000-plus
attendees – up from 12,000 the previous year.
In addition to the beer tents, freshly baked pretzels
and musical entertainment, the Oktoberfest
Brisbane featured a number of popular carnival
rides and puppet shows for children. Adults
were entertained by the Bavarian Strongman
competition, traditional Best Dressed competition

the RNA Showgrounds, chosen for its central

and Miss Oktoberfest competition which included

location, ability to manage large crowds, in-built

yodelling, cow bell ringing and much more.

infrastructure and nearby transport options.

Families, business colleagues and friends –

Queenslanders embraced these changes and

old and new – enjoyed the opportunity to relax

the record 36,000-plus registered participants,

with good food, beverages and music, singing

who raised more than $300,000 for charity,

traditional Oktoberfest songs and “schunkeln”

were enthusiastically greeted by a large crowd

(linking arms with those left and right and

of spectators as they entered the new finish

swaying) to the music.

EVENTS AND FESTIVALS

report 2008

Caravan, Camping and Touring
Holiday Show
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Organised by Caravanning Queensland, the 41st
year of this annual favourite attracted around
80,000 attendees in 2008. The RNA Showgrounds
has hosted this event for more than 30 years and

The Brisbane celebrations moved to the RNA
Showgrounds’ Oval 2 this year to provide more
space for the increasing numbers who celebrate
this annual holiday. The RNA Showgrounds’ Oval
2 will most likely be the home of Labour Day
celebrations in Brisbane for many years to come.

it is the largest Show held at the Showgrounds

Hot Rod Show

outside of The EkkA. In fact, the Caravan,

The 40th Anniversary of the Brisbane Hot

Camping and Touring Holiday Show is the

Rod Show was celebrated at the RNA

largest of its kind in Australia in terms of size and

Showgrounds in May 2008. The 40th Anniversary

attendance, and one of the largest of its kind in

show featured some of the ‘early years’ nostalgia

the world. The 300-strong delegation of exhibitors,

builds from the ‘60’s and 70’s alongside some

comprising caravan dealers, manufacturers,

of the best hot rods, street machines, bikes

camping suppliers, service providers and

and drag cars in Australia. Entrants and traders

caravan park operators, used almost every

came from all over the country - as far afield

square metre of the RNA Showgrounds - some

as Adelaide, Melbourne, Canberra, Cairns

77,000 square metres in 2008.

and Rockhampton.

The Labour Day March
In May 2008, Brisbane’s Labour Day March
had another record turnout of Queensland’s
workforce intent on celebrating the significance

Landscape Australia Expo
The Landscape Australia Expo is the largest
event in Australia for the Landscape Industry.
The RNA Showground’s Exhibition Building was

of the public holiday and their achievements

home to the Queensland leg of this event

during the year. Queensland Council of Unions

following its highly successful run in New South

(QCU), along with the Labour Day Committee,

Wales and Victoria. Catering for trade-only

organised tents, barbeques and a range of rides

attendees, the event is aimed at professionals

and roving entertainers who provided a family-

involved in the design, specification, construction

friendly atmosphere which is the hallmark of

and maintenance of public, commercial and

modern Labour Day celebrations.

residential landscapes.

report 2008
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Maths Competition

Deepavali Festival of Light

Returning to the Commerce Building Level

Returning once again in October was Deepavali

2 and Dairy Hall, the Maths Competition ran

– one of the most popular festivals on the Indian

over two days in September. Students from

calendar – attracting over 800 guests to the

State, Catholic and Independent Schools

Coffee Club Auditorium. The event celebrates

competed in Maths, Science and Building

the festival of lights symbolising the victory of

Technology competitions. The first day’s
competition was targeted at Year 6 and 7
male and female students while Year 8 - 9
female students battled it out during the
second day’s competition.

Tertiary Studies Expo (TSXPO)
The TSXPO was held in the RNA Showground’s
Exhibition Building over two days in July.
The TSXPO has been running for 27 years and
with approximately 23,000 visitors it is a

righteousness and the lifting of spiritual darkness.
Deepavali is a festival for lighting rows of lamps
and the word `Deepavali’ literally means rows of
Deepa or Diya (clay lamp).

Stereosonics
On Saturday, 22 November in a Queensland
first, Brisbane’s RNA Showgrounds hosted the
inaugural Stereosonic national tour. Stereosonic
is a showcase of the very best in new, cuttingedge music and unrivalled state-of-the-art
production. Following its successful Melbourne

‘must visit’ event for career seekers of all

launch in 2007, the show took to the road in 2008

ages including senior high school students

to give Sydney, Brisbane, Adelaide and Perth

and their parents, mature age students and

a taste as well. Featuring the finest local and

anyone interested in tertiary and/or post

overseas talent, the festival covered the entire

graduate studies. With more than 100

spectrum of dance and electronic music, even

exhibitors, an exciting seminar program and

spilling over into indie. There was a lot to

expert advice on professional careers,

get excited about and from midday to 10pm

tertiary and post graduate studies, visitors

the venue’s intimacy and family-like atmosphere

found out everything they needed to know

topped with a good line-up of niche artists, ensured

under the one roof.

a successful festival for Brisbane’s youth.

Australian
cricket
legend don
bradman
scored 18
runs on
his debut
at the RNA
Showgrounds
in 1928

CELEBRATING QUEENSLAND
The history of Queensland spans
thousands of years, encompassing
both a lengthy indigenous presence in
the state, as well as the eventful times
of post-European settlement.
The year 2009 will mark the 150th
anniversary of Queensland’s
declaration of independence which
will be celebrated throughout the
State all year long. Queensland has
grown into a state of more than four
million residents and has a lot to
celebrate. Our 150th anniversary year
is an opportunity for Queenslanders
– and the RNA – to take stock, reflect
back, think ahead and move forward.
To commemorate this exceptional
moment in our history, Local and State
Governments are planning a wide
variety of events to highlight our state,
its history and people. Celebrations

1859

will engage Queenslanders from
every corner of the state through the
Q150 Program.
Premier Anna Bligh has announced
the Q150 Icons program which
calls on Queenslanders to vote for
the icons they believe characterise
Queensland’s identity.
The EkkA ranked highly among those
icons emphasised by the Premier
for appointment, as every year the
EkkA draws hundreds of thousands
of country and urban residents in a
celebration of Queensland’s lifestyle.
Subsequent to the 133rd EkkA in
2009, the RNA Showgrounds will
undergo extensive refurbishment
designed to commemorate
Queensland’s 150th birthday and
ensure the site remains safeguarded
for future generations.

1861
1865

Queen Victoria
signed Letters
Patent to form
the colony of
Queensland,
separated from
New South
Wales. At this
time, Queensland
was the only
Australian colony
which commenced
with its own
parliament instead
of first spending
time as a Crown
Colony.
At the end of this
year, Queensland’s
population of
23,520 (excluding
an unknown
number of
Indigenous people)
accounted for
2.1% of Australia’s
population.

Queensland’s first
census recorded
less than a third
(32.6%)
of the population
of 30,059 were
born in Australia,
55.6% were born in
United Kingdom
and Ireland, 7.3%
were born in other
parts of Europe,
2.2% in Asia and 0.1%
(31 people) in New
Zealand.

The first steam trains in
Queensland (from Ipswich to
Bigge’s Camp (now Grandchester).

A year of firsts
with the very
first EkkA as
well as the first
record of a rugby
match played in
Queensland.

By 1888, there
were more than
five million cattle
in Queensland.

1876

1888

The first
inter-colonial
tennis match took
place at the RNA
Showgrounds
with Queensland
playing New South
Wales.

1895

1896
The RNA
Showgrounds
became the main
venue for cycle
racing.

Federation of
Australia; at this
time Queensland
had half a million
people.
Brisbane is
proclaimed a city.
The first motor
car parade was
held at the EkkA.

19011903

1909

University of
Queensland was
established.

years of
queensland
history

CELEBRATING QUEENSLAND

Toowoomba’s
Austral Hall
was purchased
for £1,500 and
re-erected at the
Brisbane Exhibition
Grounds. It was the
largest building
of its type in
Queensland.

Qantas was
founded to
serve outback
Queensland and
Matthew Nathan
becomes Governor,
and actively
promotes British
migration to
Queensland.

1917

1920

The Sheep and
Wool Pavilion
was built as well
as one of the
most modern
turnstile entry
gates in the
Commonwealth
to control the
entry of excited
crowds into
the show.

1964

1928
The Royal Flying
Doctor Service
of Australia
makes first flight,
departing from
Cloncurry. Also in
1928, Sir Charles
Kingsford
Smith lands the
Southern Cross
in Brisbane,
completing the
first trans-Pacific
flight.

Expo ‘88 was held
in Brisbane to
celebrate the
Bicentenary of
the First fleet
founding the
colony of
Australia.

The animal
nursery was
established at
the EkkA.

1935
1921

The first ‘Royal’
EkkA was held,
when the
Association was
granted the
prefix under
warrant from
His Majesty King
George V.

101 Cane Toads
were brought into
Queensland to try
to control pests
on sugar cane
crops, and bred
to 3,000 which
were released
into areas around
Cairns, Innisfail
and Gordonvale,
and they spread
to many parts of
Queensland.

1949
The Queensland
Industries
Fair was held
at the EkkA,
showcasing
the state’s
industrial
growth.

1954

The people
of Brisbane
welcomed Queen
Elizabeth II and
her husband,
Prince Philip,
the Duke of
Edinburgh.
It was Queen
Elizabeth’s
first visit to
Australia as
Queen.

1988
1982

Commerce and
Exhibition
buildings were
constructed
at the RNA
Showgrounds.

At this time, 3%
of employed
labour was in
agriculture
(compared to
45% in 1860), 2%
were in mining,
20% were in
manufacturing,
electricity and
construction
and 72% were in
services.

1996

2006

Of the state’s
four million
plus population,
three-quarters
(75.2%) were
born in
Australia,
5.1% were from
United Kingdom
and Ireland,
3.8% from New
Zealand, 3.3%
from Asia and
2.8% from other
parts of Europe.

2005
Brisbane hosted the
Commonwealth Games.

Queensland had 11.7
million cattle and 4.9
million sheep.

years of
queensland
history

DAWN OF A NEW ERA

report 2008

With 2009 heralding the beginning of the RNA Showgrounds’
transformation, 2008 represented a time of fond reflection of the RNA’s
history. The RNA Showgrounds is a historical icon in its own right and one
which has been entrusted to the RNA by the people of Queensland.
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As custodians of the site, it has been the

The Strategy demonstrates how the RNA and the

RNA’s duty to make the most of this important

RNA Showgrounds can remain relevant to today’s

site for Queensland while also realising its

Queenslanders, reinvigorate interest in the local

future potential.

area and safeguard the RNA Showgrounds for

The RNA Showgrounds holds many fond
memories for Queenslanders. It’s synonymous
with the people’s show – the EkkA – and with
a renewed focus on the future of the site comes

future generations. The 15-year goal is to turn
the RNA Showgrounds into a true extension
of the city and a home to further world-class
entertainment and events.

the opportunity to shape new and exciting

Last year saw a collaborative approach to the

memories for future generations.

implementation of this Strategy with close consultation

To realise this vision, upgrades to the amenities
and a review of how people access the site are
long overdue. As well as the physical changes,
the RNA will also be reviewing its own operational

between the RNA and key stakeholders including
members of the community, State Government,
Brisbane City Council and the Urban Land
Development Authority.

model to better suit the changing needs of RNA

Through a competitive bid process, the private

Showgrounds users.

sector was invited to prepare a masterplan

Those changes will not happen overnight but
a review of the precinct tells you there is an
opportunity to efficiently use and even release
land for complementary development that will
help fund the new RNA.
The unveiling of the RNA Development
Scheme Strategy in 2008 represented six
years of RNA planning and careful consideration
of its future.

the RNA
Showgrounds
occupies 20.3
hectares of
land just 2.5km
from the CBD

which includes the delivery and funding of key
infrastructure, public spaces, RNA buildings,
private development with industry leading design
and precinct-wide environmental initiatives.
During the first quarter of 2009, the RNA will
evaluate extensive proposals that shape the
RNA Showgrounds’ future. By April 2009, the
RNA expects to have selected a preferred
development partner with a financial deal to
be closed prior to EkkA 2009.

Artist’s Impression
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DAWN OF A NEW ERA

Following the 2009 EkkA, construction will

hotel and retail precinct with a fresh food market

begin to transform the RNA Showgrounds

offering something for every taste.

into a state-of-the-art lifestyle and cultural hub
for Queensland.

the RNA Showgrounds open to the public 365

RNA Annual

The RNA Development Scheme Strategy sees
30

days of the year with funding helping to replace
obsolete RNA exhibition buildings including the
Industrial Pavilion and Large Animal Pavilion.

It’s an exciting vision that brings with it the
promise of 2,000 full-time jobs each year of
the 15 year development.
The RNA Showgrounds will change. The changes
will be noticeable and they will be for the benefit
of future Queensland generations. The RNA, once
it has selected a preferred development partner,

Other benefits during further construction

will commit to further public consultation with its

stages include the development of high quality,

members and the community.

landscaped public spaces and walking and
bicycle tracks that allow easy access to the
RNA Showgrounds from neighbouring precincts

Future direction

and suburbs.

It is estimated the redevelopment will

New function facilities and assets, improved

cost approximately 1.5 billion dollars over

car parking and accommodation facilities will

15 years with funding coming from the

also herald greater opportunities for both EkkA

private sector. As custodians of the

exhibitors and the wider business community.

Showgrounds, the RNA will maintain overall

All these changes will reinforce the RNA
Showgrounds’ ability to attract spectacular

responsibility for project management of the
Development Scheme Strategy.

events all year round, host an even better EkkA

The RNA’s exciting vision for the future of

and become an extension of the city and a key

the Showgrounds will ensure its focus as

link to the neighbouring suburbs of Fortitude

a lifestyle and cultural hub, through its ‘Ever

Valley, Bowen Hills and Windsor.

Eventful’ branding, will ring true. It is heartening

A significant State icon, the RNA Showgrounds

to know, based on feedback received, this

will truly become a year-round destination

vision has the resounding support of a broad

encompassing a 340,000sqm office, residential,

representation of Queenslanders.

Artist’s Impression

GOVERNANCE
The people behind the RNA Showgrounds

report 2008

On 13 August 1875, a group of colonists met at the Brisbane Town Hall to
form The National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland.
The Association’s Charter, with Governor Sir William Cairns as its President,
was to promote and encourage the agricultural and industrial development
of Queensland; as well as provide a unique opportunity for country and
urban residents to come together in a celebration of Queensland lifestyle.
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This Charter still guides the current RNA
Council. From its formation, the Association was
envisaged as a national organisation representative
of all aspects of Queensland society. This was
reflected in the diverse professional backgrounds
of RNA Councillors then, and still is today.

RNA membership
The RNA represents a membership of close
to 5,000 people from across southeast and
regional Queensland. RNA Members enjoy a
range of benefits at Showtime and throughout
the year, including free admission to EkkA for the
Member and a guest; access to the Members’
Grandstand; free use of cloak room facilities
throughout the Show; reduced entry fees for
most EkkA competition sections; discounted
venue hire at the RNA Showgrounds throughout
the year; free parking at events held at the RNA
Showgrounds outside of EkkA; and other offers
and discounts in association with RNA sponsors.

The RNA Council
Every aspect of the RNA’s operation and
development is guided by the RNA Council who
meet monthly. A voluntary role, the RNA Council
is made up of 13 Councillors and seven Executive
Councillors, representing a broad cross section
of community and professional experience.

The Councillors are elected by the RNA Members.

Executive Council
Dr Vivian Edwards OAM
MB BS Qld FRACP
President
A Neurophysician by profession,
Vivian Edwards has dedicated
a large part of his life to the RNA. A Councillor
since 1987 and RNA President since 2003,

He has been an RNA Councillor since 1972,

in particular, he is Chairman of the Residential

was appointed Junior Vice-President in 2000 and

Committee of the Salvation Army Red Shield

Senior Vice-President in October 2003. He is

Appeal, is a Trustee of the Edinburgh Declaration

Chairman of the Beef Cattle; Joint Stock; and Meat

Trust and is a member of the Council of the

Hall Committees and a Member of Development;
Entries; Animal Boulevard; and QCAS National
Finals Committees. His commitment to the Show
is evident in the growth of the EkkA’s cattle
competition to become Australia’s largest.

David Thomas
BCom, LLB (Hons) Qld 
Junior Vice-President
Solicitor, and Immediate Past

Bassingthwaighte has served
on the RNA Council since 1981. He is an active
Member of the Entertainment, Marketing and
Sponsorship; Beef Cattle; Joint Stock; and Meat
Hall Committees.

Mrs Hennessey brings to the RNA

position of Junior Vice-President in 2006. He

Council considerable expertise

Chairs the RNA’s Development; Planning; and

in the area of fine arts. A retired

Woodchop Committees and is a Member of the

interior designer and past RNA

Entries; Appeals and Disciplinary; Space and

Exhibitor and Steward, she was elected to Council

Letting; and Veterinary Committees.

in 2001 and was appointed to the Executive

Honorary Medical Officer for 26 years to 1987.

is a Barrister-at-Law and Chief Executive of

He is a Member of the Racing Animal Welfare

the Bar Association of Queensland. He has

and Integrity Board within the Queensland

been an RNA Councillor since 2000 and was

Government’s Ministry for Racing and recently

appointed Honorary Treasurer in 2006. He is

retired from the Rural Futures Committee for South

actively involved in the RNA and oversees many

East Queensland under the Coordinator-General’s

aspects of Show planning including: Chairman

Office of Urban Management.

of Budget; Space and Letting; Entertainment,
Marketing and Sponsorship; and Appeals and

A respected Queensland
Grazier, Allan Warby, Principal
of Billinbah Pastoral Company,
has dedicated his professional career to the
development of our state’s cattle industry.

Waco Santa Gertrudis Stud, Mr

the RNA Council in 2002 and was elected to the

Honorary Treasurer Dan O’Connor

Allan Warby OAM
Senior Vice-President

Exhibitor from Yarrawonga-

Susan Hennessey

election to the Presidency and was the RNA

six decades. In 1995 he founded the Horse

A Grazier and RNA Stud Cattle

President of the Brisbane

Breeds Expo and organised this event until his

involved in many facets of the Show over

Alastair Bassingthwaite

Development Association, David Thomas joined

Dan O’Connor
DipTchng BCAE BEdSt Qld
LLB QUT LLM Qld
Honorary Treasurer

Dr Edwards and his family have been actively

Anglican Church Grammar School.

Committee in 2006. Mrs Hennessey Chairs the
Fine Arts Committee, incorporating fine art, craft,
cookery and photography, is a Member of the
Budget; Catering and House; and Entertainment,
Marketing and Sponsorship Committees.

Philip Harpham
BVSc Qld
Veterinarian and cattle and
sheep Grazier, Philip Harpham
has dedicated much of his
professional life to improving animal welfare and
agriculture in Queensland. Mr Harpham has been
an RNA Councillor since 2001 and was appointed

Disciplinary Committees; Member Development;

to the Executive Committee in 2007. He also Chairs

and a member of Horse and Arena; Joint Stock;

the Veterinary and Welfare and Young Judges

Animal Boulevard; and Woodchop Committees.

Committees and is a Member of the Beef Cattle;

He is a Ring Councillor and co-convenor of the

Dairy Cattle; Budget; Development; Planning; Joint

RNA Future Directions Committee. Mr O’Connor

Stock; Meat Hall; Fine Foods and QCAS National

is involved in a number of charitable organisations,

Finals Committees.

Council
Angus Adnam
Livestock Exporter, Director of Beef
Australia Inc Australian Livestock
Exporters Council, and Managing
Director of AAA Livestock Services Pty Ltd, Angus
Adnam has brought a wealth of experience and
energy to the RNA Council since his appointment
in November 2005. An RNA Steward and
Honorary Council Steward since 1978, his Council
responsibilities include participation as Member
on the Beef Cattle; Joint Stock; and Chairman of
Fine Food; and Catering and House Committees.
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Lionel Blumel
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Lionel Blumel has been involved
with the RNA as a Steward since
1986 and was elected to the RNA
Council in November 2006. He is Chairman of the
Canine Committee and Canine Health Subcommittee
and Member of the Joint Stock Committee. Mr
Blumel is also a Councillor of Canine Control
Council (Queensland), Committee member of the
Samford Show Society and past President of the
National Dalmatian Council of Australia. Lionel is
an avid dog person and works locally on building
a strong community focus.

Tony Carew
Mr Carew is a Business Consultant.
He was elected to the RNA Council
in February 2004, where he is
a Ring Councillor and Member of Catering and
House; Space and Letting; Horse and Arena;
Future Directions; and Fine Foods Committee.

Peter Kenny
Peter Kenny was appointed to the
RNA Council in December 2008.
Mr Kenny is the immediate pastPresident of AgForce. Peter is a keen advocate
for adopting a big picture approach to agripolitics
and has driven projects such as the Every Family
Needs A Farmer campaign and the Blueprint for
the Bush. Mr Kenny is a member of the Cape
York Heritage Committee, represents Queensland
agriculture on the Premier’s advisory council on

Climate Change and is Chair of the expert
panel looking at the Social Impact of Drought
in Australia for the Federal Government.

Ross H Douglas
An RNA Councillor since 2004,
Grazier Ross Douglas is Chairman
of the Animal Nursery and Farmyard
Friends; and Animal Boulevard Committees. He is
a Member of the Budget; Education & Agricultural
Development; and Joint Stock Committees.

Michael N Grieve
BEd NT DipEd BCAE

Joan Scott
BA Qld JP Qual

Mr Grieve was elected to the RNA

Joan Scott has been an active

Council in September 2006 and
currently sits on the Horse and

member of the RNA Council since
1996. She Chairs the RNA Fleece Breeds Committee

Arena Committee. An education professional and

and is a Member of Catering and House; Animal

Thoroughbred breeder, roles outside the RNA

Health; Joint Stock; Meat Hall; Animal Boulevard;

include Executive and Treasurer of the Queensland

and QCAS National Finals Committees. Joan has

Racehorse Owners Association and Steward and

improved many aspects of the Show, from the Junior

Honorary Life Member of the Ipswich Show Society.

Judging Section and the introduction of the Hormel
Slide to the creation of a dedicated schools section

Tim V Fairfax AM
FAICD
Tim Fairfax joined the RNA Council
in 2004 and is Chairman of the
Flower and Garden and Pisciculture Committee.
He is a member of the Education and Agricultural
Development; and Entertainment, Marketing and
Sponsorship Committees. A Grazier and Company
Director, Mr Fairfax is Deputy Chancellor of the
Sunshine Coast University and Chairman of the
University of the Sunshine Coast Foundation,
Chairman of the National Portrait Gallery, Trustee
of the Queensland Art Gallery, President of the
Queensland Art Gallery Foundation. Chairman
of the Salvation Army Brisbane Advisory Board,
Director of the Vincent Fairfax Family Foundation,
Director of the Foundation for Rural and Regional
Renewal and Councilor Philanthropy Australia.

Ian Ferguson
BA Qld JP Qual
An Officer with Queensland Police
Service for more than 37 years
and Inspector since 2000, Ian has worked with
communities throughout Central Queensland
and Brisbane. He is Chairman of the Carindale
Police Citizens Youth Club. Ian is a member of the
Mount Gravatt Showground Trust and Assistant
Ringmaster of the Mount Gravatt Show Society
where he performs similar duties to those he
has performed for many years as honorary Ring
Steward and Honorary Council Steward at the
RNA. Elected to the RNA Council in 2007, Ian
is a member of the Horse and Arena Committee
and coordinator of the Main Arena night program.

Jan McMillan

called Education on Show. Outside her RNA

A thoroughbred breeder, national

commitments, she has served on the Bungil Shire

and international horse judge and
owner of racehorses, Jan McMillan

Council and Rural Lands Protection Board.

Council since her election in 1997. In 2007, Jan

Catherine Sinclair
BSc MA, FAICD, FAIM

became the first female Ringmaster in the history

Management Consultant Catherine

has brought considerable expertise to the RNA

of the RNA. Jan also Chairs the Horse and Arena;
and Quilts Across Queensland Committees and
is a Member of the Entertainment, Marketing
and Sponsorship; Joint Stock; and Veterinary
Committees. She is a Member of the Queensland
Racehorse Owners Association, Sunshine
Coast Turf Club, Brisbane Race Club, Polo Club
and Licences Assistance Association and is a
Committee Member of the Gympie Turf Club.

Sinclair brings with her extensive
professional experience in corporate sector strategic
planning, systems and human resource development.
She has specific experience as a Board Director in
Transport and the Arts and as a Tribunal Member
in the Primary Industry Sector. Current positions
include Director, Southern Regional Water Pipeline;
Director of Queensland Bulk Water Transport Authority;
Deputy Chair, Port of Brisbane Corporation; and
Director of the Consultancy Bureau Pty Ltd.

Dr Bill Ryan
MB BS Qld FRACS

Harold Thompson
JP Qual

Dr Bill Ryan is an Orthopedic Spinal

Harold Thompson is a Farmer

Surgeon and has served as an

and Director of the Illawarra Cattle

RNA Councillor since 2000. He is Chairman of

Society of Australia and Australian Red Dairy

Poultry; and Wine and Brandy Committees and

Breed Inc. He joined the RNA Council in 2000

a member of Catering and House; Fine Foods;

and is currently a Member of the Entries; Dairy

Joint Stock; and Animal Boulevard Committees.

Cattle, Goat, Pig and Deer; Dairy Produce; and

Bill has championed the development, growth and

Joint Stock Committees. A life member of the RNA

continued success of the Taste of Queensland

since he was 18 years of age, Harold’s dedication

Kitchen in the Woolworths Fresh Food Pavilion,

and commitment to the Dairy Cattle industry and

which showcases Queensland produce and how

its contribution to the Royal Queensland Show

best to use it in cooking. Prior to joining the RNA

is highly commendable. He is a champion of the

Council, Bill was an Honorary Council Steward for

dairy cattle industry and the families and people

the Royal Queensland Wine Show.

who work within it.
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A G F Warby OAM and D G Thomas

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

RNA Annual

38

Notice of annual general meeting
of Members

39

Councillors’ Report

40

Corporate Governance Statement

43

Income Statement

45

Balance Sheet

46
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47
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NOTICE is hereby given that the ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF MEMBERS of the above Association will be held in the
COFFEE CLUB AUDITORIUM, RNA Showgrounds, Gregory Terrace, Bowen Hills at 9.00 am on 27 March 2009.
Business
•

Confirm Minutes of Annual General Meeting of Members held on 28 March 2008

•

Receive and adopt President’s and Councillors’ Reports and Audited Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2008

48

•

Confirmation of appointment of Mr P C Kenny

Notes to the Financial Statements

49

•

Election of Patron

Councillors’ Declaration

70

•

Election of President and two Vice-Presidents for ensuing year

Independent Audit Report

71

•

Election of nine Members of Council for a two year term

•

Such other business as may arise in accordance with the Rules

•

Confirm transfer of the independent audit function from BDO Kendalls (Qld) (the partnership) to
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (Qld) Pty Ltd – a new authorised audit company formed by our auditors.

•

Membership Fees

report 2008

Notice of Annual General Meeting of Members

That the following membership fees apply for the year 2010:
Membership type

39

Fee

City

$115

Country

$105

Life

$1,575

Young (18-25 years old)

$85

Junior

$45

Corporate

$500

Joining Fee

$55

Additional Members’ Guest Badge

$70

J P Tunny
Chief Executive
Brisbane 18 February 2009
In accordance with the Rules of the Association, the following members of Council retire at the AGM and are eligible for re-election:
President:

Dr V E Edwards OAM

Senior Vice President:

Mr A G F Warby OAM

Junior Vice President:

Mr D G Thomas

Members of Council:

Messrs AD Bassingthwaighte, TM Carew, RH Douglas, TV Fairfax AM, Mrs SJ Hennessey,
Messrs IW Ferguson, MN Grieve, LJ Blumel and PC Kenny.

The following members
of Council remain in office
for a further twelve months:

Mr DL O’Connor, Mrs JF Scott, Mrs J McMillan, Dr WE Ryan, Messrs WH Thompson,
PS Harpham, Ms CJ Sinclair and Mr AG Adnam
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THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

Councillors’ report (Continued)

Councillors’ report

The Councillors present their report together with the financial report of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association
of Queensland for the year ended 31 December 2008 and the auditor’s report thereon.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Association are to provide facilities and personnel to promote and encourage the development, public
interest and improvement of the Agricultural, Pastoral, Horticultural, Industrial, Manufacturing and Cultural resources of the State of
Queensland. The staging of the Royal Queensland Show in August each year is the major event of the Association.

Details of Councillors and the number of Council meetings (including meetings of Executive Committee) attended by each Councillor
of the Association during the financial year are:

Review and result of operations

RNA Annual
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Executive
Committee
Meetings

The deficit from ordinary activities was $443,966 (2007: $1,556,368 surplus).
State of affairs
B

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Association that occurred during the financial year under review.

Dr V E Edwards OAM		

1987

9

10

17

17

Mr A G Adnam

2005

8

10

-

-

Mr A D Bassingthwaighte		

1981

8

10

12

17

Mr L J Blumel

2006

10

10

-

-

Mr T M Carew

2004

8

10

-

-

2004

10

10

-

-

Mr R H Douglas

2004

9

10

-

-

The Association is in the bid phase for the site redevelopment. It is anticipated that a preferred development partner will be chosen in
the first quarter of 2009.

Mr T V Fairfax AM

2004

8

10

-

-

Subsequent events

Mr I W Ferguson

2007

10

10

-

-

Mr M N Grieve

2006

8

10

-

-

Other than the matters discussed above, no other subsequent events, matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the year
which have significantly affected or may affect the operations of the Association, the results of the operations, or the state of affairs of
the Association in subsequent years.

Mr P S Harpham		

2001

10

10

17

17

Indemnification and insurance of Councillors and Officers

Mrs S J Hennessey		

2001

9

10

15

17

Mr P S Jervis

(2)

1998

3

3

-

-

The Association has agreed to reimburse the reasonable costs (including but not limited to legal fees) incurred by any current or
past Councillor or Officer in relation to the performance of his or her duties as a Councillor or Officer of the Association provided:

Mr P C Kenny

(3)

2008

0

0

-

-

Mrs J M McMillan

1997

9

10

-

-

Mr D L O’Connor		

2000

8

10

15

17

Dr W E Ryan

2000

8

10

-

-

The level of such reimbursement is to be set by the Executive Committee.

Mrs J F Scott

1996

9

10

-

-

Insurance premiums

2007

10

10

14

-

The Association has paid insurance premiums for “Councillor’s and Officers’ and Supplementary Legal Expense Insurance” since
the end of the previous year.

Mr D G Thomas		

2002

8

10

17

17

Mr W H Thompson

2000

7

10

-

-

Mr A G F Warby OAM		

1972

10

10

16

17

Mr G A Dalton

Ms C J Sinclair

A – Number of meetings attended
B – Number of meetings eligible to attend
Notes:
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

Resigned 17 January 2009
Resigned 11 April 2008
Appointed 10 December 2008
Attendance at Executive Committee by invitation only

(1)

(4)

Councillors’ Remuneration
Councillors receive no remuneration for their services.
Environmental regulation
The Association is subject to the general environmental laws covering air, water and noise. No breaches have been reported in the
current year.
Likely developments

(i) the person is not charged with any offence, or if charged, is subsequently acquitted of all charges;
(ii) any investigations or hearings do not reveal conduct by that person which constitutes conduct which breaches that person’s
fiduciary relationship with the Association whether that person is charged or not or convicted or not;
(iii) the person’s conduct is not unbecoming of a person holding the position, which that person held at the time of the conduct.

The Councillors have not included details of the nature of the liabilities covered or the amount of the premium paid in respect of the
Councillors’ and Officers’ liability and legal expenses insurance contracts, as such disclosure is prohibited under the terms of the contract.
Proceedings on behalf of the Association
No person has applied for leave of court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Association or intervene in any proceedings to which
the Association is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Association for all or any part of those proceedings.
The Association was not a party to any such proceedings during the year.
Auditors Independence Declaration
The auditors independence declaration forms part of the Councillors’ Report and can be found on page 42.
Dated at Brisbane this 13th day of February 2009.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Council.

V E Edwards OAM
President

D L O’Connor
Honorary Treasurer
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Councillor
Note
Year of
Council
		
Appointment
Meetings
				
			
A
B

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Corporate governance statement

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF
QUEENSLAND (“the Association”) is incorporated under the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of
Queensland Act 1971 (“the Act”) and operates under the provisions of the Act.
The Association has established Objects, Rules and By-laws to effectively conduct its affairs and operations.
Under the Act, the Minister must approve any changes to the Objects and Rules of the Association and receive the annual financial
reports. The Association cannot sell its land without the approval of the Governor in Council.
While not required under the Act, the Association endeavours where possible to conduct its business to the standards and
requirements of a public company, and in compliance with the spirit of applicable legislation.
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600 Gregory Terrace
Bowen Hills QLD 4006

The Association is governed by a Council that is constituted by the President, the Senior Vice-President, Junior Vice-President and
eighteen members elected from the general body of members.
The Council meets monthly, or as required.
With the exception of Junior and Corporate members, all other members of the Association are permitted to hold office and vote at any
meetings of the members of the Association.

Dear Members,
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THE COUNCIL

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY CHRIS SKELTON TO THE COUNCILLORS OF THE ROYAL
NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

COUNCILLORS
Councillors are elected for a two year term.  The Council may appoint an eligible member to fill a casual vacancy.  A Councillor may
not seek election or re-election after attaining 72 years of age.
The President, the two Vice-Presidents and nine Councillors are elected each year by the members.

To the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of:

Honorary Councillors may be appointed in recognition of past outstanding service to the Association. Honorary Councillors receive no
remuneration, and are not entitled to attend or vote at Council Meetings.

•

the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and

COMMITTEES

•

any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

An Executive Committee is established under the Objects and Rules and has the control of the financial administration, management,
planning, strategic development and general business of the Association.  It comprises the President, two Vice-Presidents, Honorary
Treasurer and three members of Council. The Executive Committee meets monthly or as required.

Yours faithfully
BDO Kendalls (QLD)
Chartered Accountants

The Executive Committee or Council may from time to time appoint Committees consisting of such members of Council and other
persons as it may decide.  A Committee has the power to appoint a sub-committee of its members and other persons for the purpose
of considering such matters referred to it as it considers desirable.
Councillors are elected annually to Committee membership by the Council. Most Councillors serve on one or more Committees.
Some Committees have invited external members who possess particular skills or expertise.  The President and Vice-Presidents are
ex-officio members of all Committees.
Seven Committees are established to assist in the conduct of the Association’s general operations - Budget; Marketing; Development;
House; Space and Letting; Agricultural Development; and Future Directions.

C J Skelton
Partner
Brisbane
Date: 30 January 2009

In addition to the Sectional Committees, a number of other Committees are established to assist in the general conduct of the Royal
Queensland Show - Entries; Veterinary; Joint Stock; and Appeals and Disciplinary.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
The Executive Committee appoints a Chief Executive to manage the affairs of the Association.

REMUNERATION
Councillors and Honorary Councillors receive no remuneration. They may be reimbursed for reasonable expenses incurred in
attending meetings of the Council.
The remuneration and terms of employment of the Chief Executive and senior executives is determined by the Executive Committee,
and takes into account current comparable market remuneration and the desire to attract and retain quality staff with appropriate
skills and experience.

report 2008

The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland
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Corporate governance statement (Continued)

INTERNAL CONTROLS

3

13,031,427

10,815,243

3

2,743,794

2,894,074

Interest revenue

3

846,383

910,576

The Executive Committee reports and distributes its meeting minutes to each Council meeting.

Other Income

3

3,616,462

1,282,875

Funds under management are subject to investment policies that minimise risk and seek fair returns.

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment		

(13,877)

Gain/(loss) on sale of investments		

(301,007)

RISK MANAGEMENT
report 2008

Revenue			
Rent from ground facilities

The Council receives comprehensive monthly financial and operational reports, and measures performance against detailed
annual budgets.
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2007
$

Royal Queensland Show

Internal control systems are established to minimise risk and promote efficiency.
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2008
$

The Association has adopted a range of risk management practices to address both normal business operational risk, and those
specific to the activities of the Association - including bio-security, crowd control, and environmental risks.  These practices include
periodic and specific external risk reviews.
Where possible, risks are externally insured.
Councillors are covered by indemnities extended by the Act.  Employees of the Association are covered by Directors’ and Officers’
Liability Insurance.

REPORTING
The Council reports to members through publication of an Annual Report and financial statements, and at an Annual General
Meeting and periodically through newsletters and other means.
As required by the Act, the Association also submits a certified copy of the Annual Report to the Chief Executive of the relevant
Government Department.

Capital grants and subsidies

3

(26,909)
1,002,297

150,000

209,000

Total revenue		
20,073,182
			

17,087,156

Expenses			
Employee costs

4

4,647,710

4,245,610

Materials and services

5a

12,858,043

10,039,602

Depreciation and amortisation

5b

1,740,042

1,245,576

Unrealised loss on investments		

1,271,353

0

Total expenses		

20,517,148

15,530,788

Net operating surplus/(deficit)		

(443,966)

The income statement is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 69.

1,556,368

report 2008

The Association is subject to independent external audit.

Note
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AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
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THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

Balance Sheet
As at 31 December 2008

Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2008

Note
		

2007
$

Cash and cash equivalents

7

136,177

192,710

Trade and other receivables

8

1,068,787

688,066

Other financial assets

9

9,917,634

10,046,075

Inventories		

92,319

98,279

Other assets		

531,757

423,320

Total current assets		

11,746,674

11,448,450

Rain
Protection
Reserve
$
Balance at 31 December 2007

3,500,000

Asset
General
Asset
Replacement
Reserve Revaluation
Reserve		
Reserve
$
$
$
3,375,000

125,775

179,163

Retained
Earnings

Trust
Funds

Total
Funds

$

$

$

22,593,439

248,446 30,021,823

Changes in equity for 2008							
Revaluation increment

-

-

-

-

Transfer from reserve

-

-

-

Deficit for the year

-

-

-

-

3,500,000

3,375,000

125,775

0

(179,163)

-

-

-

22,634

(156,529)

-

(443,966)

Other financial assets

9

3,584,920

5,937,578

Intangible assets

11

271,216

157,250

Property, plant and equipment

10

15,538,860

13,973,450

Balance at 31 December 2008

Total non-current assets		

19,394,996

20,068,278

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 69.

Total assets		

31,141,670

31,516,728
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Trade and other payables

12

694,844

1,006,557

Provisions

13

122,815

181,663

Unearned Income		

863,577

288,532

Total current liabilities		

1,681,236

1,476,752

271,080 29,421,328
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For the year ended 31 December 2007
Rain
Protection
Reserve
$
Balance at 31 December 2006

Non-current liabilities			

3,500,000

Asset
General
Asset
Replacement
Reserve Revaluation
Reserve		
Reserve
$
$
$
3,375,000

125,775

764,467

Retained
Earnings

Trust
Funds

Total
Funds

$

$

$

21,037,071

241,182

29,043,495

Changes in equity for 2007							

13

39,106

18,153

Total non-current liabilities		

39,106

18,153

Total liabilities		

1,720,342

1,494,905

Net assets		

29,421,328

30,021,823

Revaluation increment

-

-

-

179,163

-

-

179,163

Transfer from reserve

-

-

-

(764,467)

-

7,264

(757,203)

Surplus for the year

-

-

-

-

1,556,368

-

1,556,368

3,500,000

3,375,000

125,775

179,163

22,593,439

248,446

30,021,823

Balance at 31 December 2007

Funds			
Retained earnings		

22,149,473

22,593,439

Reserves		

7,000,775

7,179,938

Trust funds		

271,080

248,446

Total funds		

29,421,328

30,021,823

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 69.

22,149,473

Statement of Changes in Equity

Current liabilities			

Provisions

(443,966)

-

report 2008
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For the year ended 31 December 2008

		

Non-current assets			
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Statement of Changes in Equity

The statement of changes in equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 69.
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THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 December 2008

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

2007
$

1

2

The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland (“the Association”) is a body corporate,
incorporated under the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 as amended.

		

Receipts from customers		

18,258,576

15,804,273

Payments to suppliers and employees		

(19,162,556)

(15,040,189)

Interest received		

763,964

940,988

Dividends received		

137,201

37,894

Interest paid		

0

0

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities

The Association

14(ii)

(2,815)

Statement of significant accounting policies
The significant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report are:
(a)

The financial report is a general purpose financial report, which has been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards, Australian Accounting Interpretations and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian
Accounting Standards Board.

1,742,966

It has been prepared on an historical cost basis, modified by the revaluation of selected non-current assets, and financial
assets and liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting has been applied.
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Cash flows from investing activities			
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment		
Payments for property, plant and equipment		

0
(783,294)

(Payments for) / proceeds from other financial assets

729,576

Net cash (used in) by investing activities		

(53,718)

8,636

The accounting policies have been consistently applied and, except where there is a change in accounting policy, are
consistent with those of the previous year.

(1,008,878)
(887,533)

As the Association is a “not for profit” entity, the terms “profit and loss” do not correctly describe the nature of the
Association’s activities.  Accordingly, the words surplus/(deficit) have been substituted for the terms profit/(loss) prescribed
in AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements. Also, due to the specific not for profit paragraphs contained only in
Australian Accounting Standards, the Association can not state that it has complied with all International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

(1,887,775)
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Net increase / (decrease) in cash held		

(56,533)

(144,809)

Cash at the beginning of the year		

192,710

337,519

136,177

192,710

Cash at the end of the year

14(i)

Basis of preparation

Unless mandatory application exists, no new standards issued since balance date have been applied in the preparation of
this financial report.  
(b)

Revenue recognition – Note 3
Royal Queensland Show

The balance sheet is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements set out on pages 49 to 69.

Royal Queensland Show and ground rental revenue is recognised in the year it is earned.
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised as it accrues, taking into account the effective yield on the financial asset.
Sale of non-current assets
The gain or deficit on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of
disposal and the net proceeds on disposal. At the time available-for-sale assets are sold, the cumulative revaluation gain
recorded directly in equity is recognised in the income statement.
Other revenue
Other revenue includes revenue from car parking, special exhibition charges, secretarial fee, signage revenue and sundry
revenue and is recognised on an accrual basis.
Capital grants and subsidies
Capital grants and subsidies are recognised as revenue when control is obtained, usually upon receipt of cash.
Contribution of Assets
Income arising from the contribution of an asset to the entity shall be recognised when, and only when, all the following
conditions have been satisfied:
(a)

the entity obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution.

(b)

it is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the entity; and

(c)

the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably.

Contribution income is measured at the fair value of the contributions received or receivable.
(c)

Income Tax
The Association is an exempt body under Section 50-40 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and is accordingly not
liable for income tax.
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Cash flows from operating activities

2008
$
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
Goods and services tax

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
(g)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where the
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  In these circumstances, the GST is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.

Bank short term deposits (current assets)

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.

Long term investment portfolio (non-current assets)

The term deposits are shown at cost.  Interest is accrued at the contracted rate and included in “other debtors”.

Long term investments consist of investments in individual listed equities and managed funds. These investments are
available-for-sale financial assets and are reflected at fair value.  Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value are taken directly to equity to the extent possible.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from
investing and financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are classified as operating cash flows.
(e)

report 2008
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Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents – Note 7

Fair value is determined based on current bid prices for all quoted investments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at face value of the amounts deposited or drawn.
(f)

Other financial assets – Note 9

(h) Inventories

Trade and other receivables – Note 8

Property, plant and equipment – Note 10

report 2008

(d)

2

Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

51

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Inventories are primarily consumable stores used by the
Association in its operations.

Trade debtors and other debtors
Certain trade debtors’ accounts specify a specific due date and those accounts are payable on that date.  Other debtors
which have no specific due date for payment are normally settled within 60 days.

(i)

The carrying amount of receivables is reduced by the use of an allowance account where there is objective evidence
that the Association will not be able to recover all amounts due. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the
customer is experiencing significant financial difficulty, where debt collection procedures have been commenced, there is a
fair probability that the customer will be put into administration or liquidation.

Acquisition
Items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.

When receivables for which an impairment has previously been recognised are determined to be uncollectible, they are
written off against the allowance account. If no provision for impairment was previously recognised, the impairment is
written off against the receivable directly. Impairment losses arising from the use of allowance accounts or bad debts are
recognised in the Income statement as part of Other Expenses.

Depreciation and amortisation
Items of property, plant and equipment including buildings and ground improvements are depreciated/amortised using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives.  Depreciation and amortisation rates and methods are reviewed
annually for appropriateness.

Receivables are determined to be uncollectible only when there is no expectation of recovering any additional cash. This
may occur when a final distribution has been made from administrators / liquidators, or where unsuccessful attempts
have been made to recover the debt through legal actions or debt collection agencies and the prospect of recovering any
additional cash is remote.

The depreciation/amortisation rates used for each class of asset are as follows:
		
Buildings and ground improvements

2008

2007

2% - 5%

2% - 5%

10% - 20%

10% - 20%

5%

5%

All receivables that are neither past due or impaired are with long standing clients who have a good credit history with the
Association.

Plant and equipment

No past due and no impaired

Assets are first depreciated or amortised in the year of acquisition or in respect of internally constructed assets in the year
the asset is completed and held ready for use.

Substations and electrical equipment		

No receivables balances are impaired receivables at year end.
(j)

Some past due but none impaired
The aging of balances that are past due but not impaired including balances that are not past due is as follows:
Not past due

42,095

Past due 60 days

12,625

Past due 90 days and over
Total			
No security is held for receivables balances that are past due but not impaired.

Intangible assets consist of computer software acquired to assist in managing the operations of the Association. The
computer software is amortised at a rate of 30%.

832,557

Past due 30 days

181,510
1,068,787

Intangible assets – Note 11

(k)

Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, the Association reviews the carrying value of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is compared to the asset’s carrying value.
Any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the income statement.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Association estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

(l)

Trade and other payables – Note 12

2

Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
(r)

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not billed to the
Association. Trade accounts payable are normally settled within 60 days.
(m) Provisions – Note 13

(n)

Where required by Australian Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in
presentation and disclosure for the current year.
(s)

The Councillors evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial report based on historical knowledge
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on
current trends and economic data, obtained externally and internally.

Employee benefits – Note 12 and 13

Impairment

Wages, salaries and annual leave

The Councillors assess impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Association that may lead
to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. Value in
use calculations are performed in assessing recoverable amounts and incorporate a number of key estimates.
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Useful lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment are based upon expectations of the consumption of the assets at their
acquisition date and are re-assessed annually.  The actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment may vary for various
reasons from the useful lives adopted for depreciation purposes.

calculated at undiscounted amounts based on remuneration rates that the Association expects to pay including related
on-costs. Amounts payable over a period of greater than 12 months are discounted to their present values of estimated
future cashflows.  
Long service leave

RNA Annual

The provision is calculated using expected future increases in wage and salary rates including related on costs and
expected settlement dates based on turnover history and is discounted using the rates attaching to national government
securities at balance date which most closely match the terms of maturity of the related liabilities. The unwinding of the
discount is treated as long service leave expense.

The Association expects to first apply these Standards and Interpretations in the financial report of the Association relating
to the annual reporting period beginning after the effective date of each pronouncement.

Leases
The Association only enters into operating leases. Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and
benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.
Reserves
The Association, in order to provide a reserve against reduced gate takings due to inclement weather in a particular year,
appropriates from time to time certain surpluses to the Rain Protection Reserve. Nil transfers (2007: Nil) took place during
the year.
The Asset Replacement Reserve is to be used for replacement of buildings demolished as a result of the Brisbane City
Council by-pass tunnel. Nil transfers (2007: Nil) took place during the year.
The Asset Revaluation Reserve contains the revaluation increment on the available for sale financial assets from valuing the
investments at fair value.
The Association has recorded a General Reserve for non-specific purposes.  There were Nil transfers to/from the General
Reserve during the year (2007: Nil).

(q)

Accounting Standards Issued Not yet Effective
At the date of authorisation of the financial report, certain Standards and Interpretations were on issue but not yet effective.  
These Standards and Interpretations have not been adopted in the preparation of the financial report for 31 December 2008.

The Association contributes to several defined contribution employee superannuation plans.  Contributions are charged to
the income statement as incurred. Further information is set out in Note 15.

(p)

(t)

The provision for employee benefits for long service leave represents the present value of the estimated future cash outflows
to be made resulting from employees’ services provided up to reporting date.

Superannuation plan

(o)

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

A provision is recognised when there is a legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, the timing or amount of which is
uncertain.

Liabilities for employee benefits for wages and salaries (including non-monetary benefits), and annual leave to be settled
within 12 months of the reporting date represent present obligations resulting from employees’ services provided up to the
reporting date,

52

Comparatives

Trust Funds
The Association from time to time receives monies from third parties to be held in trust and used for specific prize payments
where the particular prize is eligible to be paid. These monies accrue interest at the average term deposit rate with any
prizes paid deducted from the balance of the trust fund.

The Councillors anticipate that the adoption of these Standards and Interpretations in future periods will have no material
financial impact on the financial statements of the Association.
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Statement of significant accounting policies (continued)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

2007
$

Revenue

4

report 2008

Royal Queensland Show			
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Note
		

2008
$

2007
$

Employee costs

Salary and wages		

4,282,402

3,910,637

Gate receipts		

5,824,982

4,083,079

Superannuation expense		

311,963

294,599

Show rents		

4,032,507

3,958,664

Fringe benefits tax

53,345

40,374

Advertising and sponsorship		

1,149,005

993,981

4,647,710

4,245,610

Competition entry fees		

647,778

615,004

Membership subscription		

430,525

422,970

Bar sales		

611,315

484,911

Sundry show revenue		

335,315

256,634

306,925

398,571

		

13,031,427

10,815,243

		
5a Material and services
Advertising		

Auditors remuneration			
Audit of the financial report

19,793

16,422

Rent from ground facilities			

Other Services		

5,000

0

Special exhibition rent		

1,591,345

1,690,647

Bad debts (including increase/(decrease) in provision)		

0

6,461

Special exhibition car parking		

489,419

542,164

Consultants – redevelopment 		

1,853,204

276,359

272,255

330,859

Recovered overheads		

445,940

464,538

Consultants – other		

Sundry rent from ground facilities		

217,090

196,725

Cost of bar stock sold		

237,852

180,956

2,894,074

Electricity and gas		

400,234

349,380

Show acts		

1,270,397

1,242,309

Lease expense		

32,083

35,000

Legal fees – redevelopment		

283,037

0

		

2,743,794

Interest revenue			
Bank Bills		

650,320

411,776

Term deposits		

0

151,096

Unit trusts		

0

121,236

Hybrids		

110,112

109,344

Other		

85,951

117,124

		

846,383

910,576

Other income			
Sundry revenue		

8,442

28,909

Legal fees – other		

99,363

77,674

Insurance		

482,359

504,759

Maintenance		

1,030,511

677,957

Materials		

101,844

161,615

Postage and telephone		

157,094

150,101

Printing and stationery		

288,557

215,659

Prizes and ribbons

448,122

418,569

650,461

713,058

Carpark – RBH		

795,931

606,278

Rates and utility charges		

Dividends Received		

137,201

37,894

Other show expenses *		

3,102,743

2,528,052

24,888

59,794

Other materials and services		

1,816,213

1,755,841

Compensation (significant item)

2,650,000

550,000

		

12,858,047

10,039,602

		

3,616,462

1,282,875

Insurance Claim		

*Other show expenses includes expenses such as catering, cleaning, ticketing commissions, contract labour, hire of equipment and security.

Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment		
Gain/(loss) on sale of investments (significant item)

(13,877)
(301,007)

(26,909)
1,002,297

Capital grants and subsidies		

150,000

209,000

Total revenue		

20,073,182

17,087,156

report 2008
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2008
$

2007
$

5b Depreciation and amortisation

Other financial assets

603,553

Current		

Depreciation of motor vehicles		

70,835

72,284

Bank Bills		

9,080,104

9,331,779

Depreciation of plant and equipment – grounds		

234,585

132,107

Cash Management Trust		

837,530

714,296

Depreciation of plant and equipment – buildings		

161,023

159,410

		

9,917,634

10,046,075

72,084

68,864

		

137,546

116,067

Non-current		

Amortisation of computer software		

77,275

93,291

Investments in Listed Equities – at fair value		

1,519,614

3,351,217

		

1,740,042

1,245,576

Investments in Hybrid Securities – at fair value		

2,065,306

2,586,361

		

3,584,920

5,937,578

Significant Items
Short-term deposits

The following significant items of revenue and expense are relevant in understanding the result from operations for the Association:

Short-term bank bills at 31 December 2008 mature within 140 days and pay interest between 4.26% and 8.2% (2007: mature within 30
days and pay interest between 7.02% and 7.05%).

Contributions received from third parties for use of Association facilities		

2,650,000

550,000

Gain on disposal of investments		

0

1,002,297

		

2,650,000

1,552,297

Loss on disposal of investments		

301,007

0

Consultants fees for proposed redevelopment		

2,136,241

276,359

Unrealised loss on investments		

1,271,353

0

		

3,708,601

276,359

Expense

7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and on hand		
8

136,177

192,710

Trade and other receivables

Trade debtors		
Provision for impairment		

Investments in listed equities are carried at fair value.
The fair value of the investments in listed equities is determined by reference to the quoted market price at balance date.
10 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold land – at cost		

96,880

96,880

Buildings and ground improvements		
At cost		

23,514,139

23,514,139

Accumulated depreciation		

(13,425,749)

(12,439,055)

		

10,088,390

11,075,084

Plant and equipment		

Current		
941,278
(7,481)

657,956
(7,481)

Other debtors		

134,990

37,591

		

1,068,787

688,066

57

Investments in listed equities
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Income

RNA Annual

2007
$

986,694

Depreciation of sub-stations and electrical

report 2008
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2008
$

Depreciation of buildings and improvements		

Depreciation of furniture and fittings
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report 2008

		
		

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

At cost		

11,753,854

8,544,811

Accumulated depreciation		

(6,870,834)

(6,340,343)

		

4,883,020

2,204,468

Sub-stations and electrical equipment			
At cost		

2,444,095

2,432,997

Accumulated depreciation		

(1,973,525)

(1,835,979)

		

470,570

597,018

Total property, plant and equipment net book value		

15,538,860

13,973,450
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2007
$

Reconciliations

Current valuation of land and buildings

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of property,
plant and equipment are set out below:

The Association is incorporated under the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (‘the Act’)
and operates under the provisions of that Act. In accordance with the Act, the Association cannot sell its land without the approval of
the Governor in Council.

Carrying amount at beginning of year		

96,880

96,880

Carrying amount at end of year		

96,880

96,880

Buildings		
report 2008

2007
$

10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

		

RNA Annual

2008
$

10 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Freehold land		

58

		
		

Given the special purpose nature of the land and the restrictions imposed by the Act on the Association’s ability to deal with the land,
the Councillors most recent valuation of freehold land was carried out as at 31 December 2008 on the basis of rateable value. This
value was $26,800,000.
With respect to the current value of the Association’s buildings, the Councillors commissioned an independent valuation in March
2006 prepared on the basis of reinstatement cost for insurance purposes. The independent valuation of reinstatement cost of the
Association’s buildings resulted in a valuation of $96,744,000.

Carrying amount at beginning of year		

11,075,084

11,678,637

Additions		

0

0

As freehold land and buildings are recorded at cost, the above valuations have not been brought to account.

Disposals		

0

0

The Commonwealth Bank holds mortgages over certain land of the Association, however no debt is owing to this party and the charge
exists to facilitate re-establishment of facilities should the Association require such.  

Depreciation Expense		

(986,694)

(603,553)

Depreciation on Disposal		

0

0

Carrying amount at end of year		

10,088,390

11,075,084

Plant and equipment		
Carrying amount at beginning of year		

2,204,468

2,022,462

Additions		

3,230,756

650,216

Disposals		

(21,709)

(97,547)

Depreciation on Disposal		

8,032

62,002

		
Carrying amount at end of year		

(538,527)
4,883,020

(432,665)
2,204,468

		
Sub-stations and electrical equipment		
Carrying amount at beginning of year		

597,018

488,695

Additions		

11,098

224,390

Depreciation Expense		

(137,546)

(116,067)

Carrying amount at end of year		

470,570

597,018

15,538,860

13,973,450

		
Total carrying value of property, plant and equipment		

11 Intangible assets

report 2008

2008
$
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Computer software at cost		

600,566

411,941

Accumulated amortisation		

(329,350)

(254,691)

Net carrying value		

271,216

157,250

Carrying amount at beginning of year		

157,250

115,817

Additions		

191,441

134,998

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts for each class of intangible asset are set out below:
Computer software		

Disposals		

(2,816)

Depreciation Expense		

(74,659)

(93,565)

0

Carrying amount at end of year		

271,216

157,250

RNA Annual

		
		

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2008

2008
$

2007
$

12 Trade and other payables
116,199

442,552

Other creditors and accruals		

333,001

395,953

Annual leave		

245,644

168,052

		

694,844

1,006,557

report 2008

Current			

RNA Annual

2007
$

Insurance claims excess		

0

0

Provision for long service leave		

122,815

181,663

		

122,815

181,663

Reconciliation of cash
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and at bank, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts.  Cash as at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled
to the related items in the balance sheet as follows:

Cash on hand		

9,930

8,820

Cash at bank		

126,247

183,890

Total cash		

136,177

192,710

(ii) Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with operating surplus
Surplus/(Deficit) after income tax

Non-current			
Provision for long service leave		

39,106

18,153

		

39,106

18,153

161,921

(i)

199,816

(429,105)

1,556,368

Add/(less) items classified as investing/financing activities:
(Gain)/loss on sale of non-current assets
(Gain)/loss on sale of investments		

13,877
301,007

26,910
(1,002,297)

Add/(less) non-cash items:
The present values of employee benefits not expected to be settled within 12 months of balance date have been calculated using the
following weighted averages:
		

2008

2007

Assumed rate of increase in wages and salary rates		

4%

4%

Discount rate		

5.5%

5.5%

Settlement term (years)		

10

10

Depreciation and amortisation		
Amounts set aside to provisions		

1,740,042
39,697

1,245,576
(74,750)

Compensation		

(2,650,000)

0

Unrealised Loss on investments		

1,271,353

0

Change in assets and liabilities during the year:		
(Increase)/decrease in inventories		

5,958

(695)

(Increase) in other assets		

(108,436)

32,661

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables		

(380,721)

(466,635)

Increase in trade and other payables		

(389,305)

371,204

Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities		

575,045

47,360

Increase in trust funds		

7,773

7,264

Cash flow from operations		

(2,815)

1,742,966

report 2008

Unsecured trade creditors		

Total provisions		

2008
$

14 Notes to the statement of cash flows

13 Provisions
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2007
$

16 Financial Instruments
(a)

15 Superannuation

The Association’s exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate for classes of financial
assets and financial liabilities is set out below:

The Association continued contributions to accumulated contribution plans during the year. Contributions paid during the year and
payable at 31 December 2008 are as follows:

			
Note
Weighted
		
average
		
interest rate

(i) Contributions paid		

report 2008

Sunsuper

RNA Annual

62

Interest rate risk exposures

			

Fixed interest maturing in		

Floating
1 year
1 to 5
> 5 years
interest
or less
years		
rate				

$

$

$

$

Noninterest
bearing

Total

$

$

196,170

207,791

AMP Super Leader

28,973

34,885

ASGARD Wealth Solutions

12,366

9,592

Australian Super

178

156

Cash and cash equivalents

7

6.63%

126,247

-

-

-

9,930

136,177

Suncorp Life & Superannuation

727

184

Trade and other receivables

8

-

-

-

-

-

1,068,787

1,068,787

0

147

5,775

1,575

0

123

3,761

1,078

0

212

Colonial Select Personal Super

2,208

47

Intrust Super Fund

3,869

563

The Universal Super Scheme

8,780

2,157

The Portfolio Service Retire

3,421

0

Superwrap – Personal Super Plan
Virgin Superannuation
Australian Enterprise Super
ANZ
Club Super

Recruitment Super

811

78

REST Superannuation

563

113

20,809

8,702

288,411

267,403

Other
		

		
(ii) Contributions payable		
Sunsuper

2008
Financial assets								

Bank bills

9

5.99%

-

9,080,104

-

-

-

9,080,104

Cash management trust

9

5.85%

837,530

-

-

-

-

837,530

Investments in listed equities

9

-

-

-

-

-

1,519,614

1,519,614

Investments in hybrid securities

9

6.00%

-

1,535,679

-

529,627

-

2,065,306

			

963,777

10,615,783

-

529,627

2,598,331

14,707,518

Financial liabilities								
Trade and other payables

12

-

-

-

-

-

449,200

449,200

-

-

-

-

-

863,577

863,577

			

-

-

-

-

1,312,777

1,312,777

Other liabilities

2007			
Financial assets								
Cash and cash equivalents

7

6.95%

183,890

-

-

-

8,820

192,710

Trade and other receivables

8

-

-

-

-

-

688,066

688,066

Bank bills

9

7.03%

-

9,331,779

-

-

-

9,331,779

4.81%

714,296

-

-

-

-

714,296

14,966

14,870

2,334

3,232

Cash management trust

9

643

1,110

Investments in listed equities

9

-

-

-

-

-

3,351,217

3,351,217

0

319

Investments in hybrid securities

9

7.16%

-

2,056,734

-

529,627

-

2,586,361

The Universal Super Scheme

857

842

The Portfolio Service Retire

523

0

			

898,186

11,388,513

-

529,627

Virgin Superannuation

525

525

AMP Super Leader
Asguard
ANZ

Other
		

3,705

3,960

23,553

24,858

4,048,103 16,864,429

Financial liabilities								
Trade and other payables

-

838,505

838,505

Other liabilities							

12

-

288,532

288,532

1,127,037

1,127,037

			
(b)

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Credit risk exposures
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Association if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations to the Association.
Credit risk arises principally from trade and other receivables and investments.
The objective of the Association is to minimize risk of loss from credit risk exposure.  

report 2008

2008
$
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16 Financial Instruments (continued)

16 Financial Instruments (continued)

Receivables

Liquidity risk

The Association has established a number of policies and processes to manage credit risk from receivables. These include :

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Association will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.  

•

Credit assessment and approval policies

•

Credit limits

The objective of managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities
when they fall due, under both normal and stressed conditions.

•

Review of aging

•

Follow-up procedures

•

Continuously monitoring actual and daily cashflows and longer-term forecasted cashflows

Debt recovery procedures

•

Monitoring the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities in order to match inflows and outflows

•

Financial assets held for which there is liquid market and that are readily saleable

•

Financial assets held for which there is not a liquid market, but which are expected to generate cash inflows that are available to
meet cash outflows

•

Maintaining adequate reserves and support facilities

•

Monitoring liquidity ratios (working capital)

RNA Annual

64

Investments
The Association has established a number of policies and processes to manage credit risk from investments. These include :
•

Monitoring performance of companies invested in

•

Monitoring rate of return eg dividends / interest

report 2008

report 2008

Credit risk from receivables is measured using debtors days and aging. Refer Note 2(f) for aging analysis.

Liquidity risk is measured using liquidity ratios such as working capital.

Credit risk from investments is measured using rate of return on investment.
		

2008

2007

Investment value		

13,502,554

15,983,653

Income earned		

632,325

1,907,541

Rate of return		
		
Income earned excludes fair value movements.

4.68%

11.93%

Concentrations
The Association has no concentration of credit risk from receivables or investments.
Maximum credit risk

Summary quantitative data
		

2008

2007

Current assets		

11,746,674

11,448,450

Current liabilities		

1,681,236

1,476,752

10,065,438

9,971,698

Surplus / (deficit)
Maturity analysis

Financial liabilities have differing maturity profiles depending on the contractual term and in the case of borrowings, different
repayment amounts and frequency. The table shows the period in which the principal and interest (if applicable) of recognised
and unrecognised financial liability balances will be paid based on the remaining period to repayment date assuming contractual
repayments are maintained.  Contractual cashflows are at undiscounted values (including future interest expected to be paid).  
Accordingly these values may not agree to carrying amount.

The Association’s maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking into account the value of any collateral or other security, in the
event other parties fail to perform their obligations under financial instruments in relation to each class of recognised financial asset at
reporting date is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Balance Sheet.

Carrying Contract
amount		
Trade and other payables

Within 1
cashflow

1–5
> 5 years
years		

No
maturity

694,844

694,844

694,844

0

0

0

Borrowings

0

0

0

0

0

0

Finance leases

0

0

0

0

0

0

Interest rate swaps

0

0

0

0

0

0

425,570

425,570

136,453

289,117

0

0

Commitments

65
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•

The Association has established a number of policies and processes for managing liquidity risk. These include:
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16 Financial Instruments (continued)

16 Financial Instruments (continued)

Trade and other payables are contractually due within 6 months of year end.

Summary quantitative data

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while
optimising the return.
Interest rate risk

report 2008

Interest rate risk arises principally from cash at bank and available for sale financial assets.  
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The Association has established a number of policies and processes for managing interest risk rate. It is the policy of the Association
to manage interest rate risk exposures by continuously monitoring interest rates and to alter the balance of fixed and variable rate
deposits as considered appropriate.
Interest rate risk is measured as the value of assets and liabilities at fixed rate compared to those at variable rate.
Sensitivity analysis
A change of 100 basis points (1%) in interest rates at reporting date would have increased / decreased equity and profit or loss by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis
for the prior year.
+1%

Profit or loss			 Equity
-1%
+1%

-1%

31 Dec 2008

119,829

(119,829)

119,829

(119,829)

31 Dec 2007

126,324

(126,324)

126,324

(126,324)

Equity price risk
Equity price risk arises principally from available for sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.  
The Association has established a number of policies and processes for managing equity price risk. These include:
•

Monitoring equity prices continuously;

•

Assessing the earnings and risk of an industry or company prior to investing;

•

Maintaining a diversified portfolio;

•

Utilising third party experts to maintain and manage the day to day investments.

•

Due to the large value of fixed interest investments, the Association has adopted a policy that maintains an equity portfolio of 30%
defensive assets and 70% growth assets.

Equity price risk is measured as the percentage fluctuation in the share price of an equity instrument compared to the percentage
fluctuation in the total market index for the same period.

Industry / company		

2008

2007

Energy		

602,000

781,400

Materials		

251,580

476,640

Industrials		

217,725

321,425

Consumer Discretionary		

271,875

316,000

Health Care		

151,875

131,331

Telecommunications Services		

172,350

126,000

International Managed Funds		

185,142

399623

Utilities		

0

115,522

Financials-Ex Prop Trusts

0

703,670

1,852,547

3,371,611

Total		

67

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% change in equity prices at reporting date would have increased / decreased equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the prior year.
		Profit or loss			 Equity
+10%
-10%
+10%

-10%

31 Dec 2008

151,961

(151,961)

151,961

(151,961)

31 Dec 2007

335,121

(335,121)

335,121

(335,121)

(c)

Net fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities approximate fair value

RNA Annual

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will affect the
Association’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  

report 2008

The Association’s exposure to equity price risk at reporting date is as follows:

Market risk
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2008
$

2007
$

18 Segment reporting
The Association operates from one location at its RNA Showgrounds in Brisbane, and as defined by its objects and rules its sole
object is to act as a show society.

17 Commitments
Operating lease payable commitments

19 Key management personnel remuneration

Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals of plant
and equipment, not provided for in the financial statements and payable:

Councillors’

RNA Annual
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63,482

One year or later and no later than five years

289,117

176,912

		

377,270

240,394

The Association has a five year lease with QR (commencing 1 June 2007) for rental of an advertising sign located partly on QR land.  
The lease represents 70% of the advertising rental received by the Association.  The Association has an indefinite lease with QR
(commencing 1 July 2005) for rental of a fire escape located on QR land.  The Association also has a five year lease with Fuji Xerox
(commencing 28 October 2008) for rental of two photocopier machines.
Operating lease receivable commitments		
Future non-cancellable operating lease rentals of plant
and equipment, not provided for in the financial statements and receivable:
Within one year		

85,006

25,085

One year or later and no later than five years

193,600

7,504

		

278,606

32,589

At the Association’s Council meeting on 27 October 2000 it was resolved that ‘Country Councillors’ who travel a distance of more than
100km radius from Brisbane be reimbursed their travel expenses based on Australian Taxation Office rates, as published, and be able
to claim overnight accommodation where applicable for attending official meetings of the Council and the Executive Committee.  At 31
December 2008 there were seven Councillors eligible to claim travel expenses (2007: seven Councillors).
Councillors do not receive remuneration for their membership of Council.
Key Management
Total income paid or payable, or otherwise made available to the key management of the Association from the Association or any
related party.
		
2008
2007
		
$
$
Salary and fees		

848,187

721,890

Superannuation Contribution		

105,902

117,618

33,445

5,271

987,534

839,508

Long term benefits – long service leave
		
20 Related party disclosure

The Association has a five year lease with Telstra Corporation (commencing 1 December 2008) for ground rental on RNA land.  The
Association also has a five year lease with Vodafone Network (commencing 1 September 2004) for ground rental on RNA land.  The
Association has a 1 year lease with Sarina Russo Schools (commencing 06 May 2008) and a 5 year lease with Canine Control Council
(commencing 01 January 2008), both for ground rental.
Capital expenditure commitments		
Capital expenditure commitments contracted for:		
Computer software		

0

25,065

Water Tanks		

48,300

0

		

48,300

25,065

The name of each person holding the position of Councillor of the Association during the year is listed in the Councillors’ Report.
Mr D G Thomas is a partner in the law firm of Minter Ellison.  During the period Mr Thomas held the position of Councillor of the
Association, the Association paid legal fees to Minter Ellison amounting to $301,056 (2007: $58,280).
Other transactions between the Association and Councillors and their related entities are trivial in nature and occur within normal
customer/supplier relationships on terms and conditions no more favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect would have
been adopted if dealings with non-Councillor related entities at arm’s length in the same circumstances.
21 Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities
The Association has no known contingent assets or contingent liabilities.
22 Subsequent Events
No events have occurred subsequent to balance date that would require disclosure in or amendment of these financial statements.
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Councillors’ declaration

Independent Audit Report to the Members
of The Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland

In the opinion of the Councillors of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland:
(a) the financial statements and notes, set out on pages 16 to 46, are in accordance with the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial
Association of Queensland Act 1971 as amended; and
(i)

give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Association as at 31 December 2008 and of its performance,
as represented by the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year ended on that date; and

(ii)

comply with Australian Accounting Standards, including Australian Accounting Interpretations; and

Scope
Report on the Financial Report
We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland, which
comprises the balance sheet as at 31 December 2008, and the income statement, statement of changes in equity and cash flow
statement for the year ended on that date, a summary of significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the Councillors’
declaration.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Councillors:

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards. These Auditing Standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit
engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material
misstatement.
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V E Edwards OAM
President

D L O’Connor
Honorary Treasurer

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to
the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
Councillors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical pronouncements.
We confirm the independence declaration provided to the Councillors of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association
of Queensland on 30 January 2009, would be in the same terms if provided to the Councillors as at the time this auditor’s report
was made.
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Dated at Brisbane this 13th day of February 2009.

The Councillors of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland are responsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (as amended). This
responsibility includes establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
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Councillors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report
(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Association will be able to pay its obligations and liabilities as and when
they become due and payable.

THE ROYAL NATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AND INDUSTRIAL ASSOCIATION OF QUEENSLAND

Independent Audit Report to the Members
of The Royal National Agricultural and
Industrial Association of Queensland

Audit opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of The Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland are in accordance
with the Royal National Agricultural and Industrial Association of Queensland Act 1971 (as amended), including:
a) giving a true and fair view of the Association’s financial position as at 31 December 2008 and of its performance for the year ended
on that date; and
b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards including Australian Accounting Interpretations.
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BDO Kendalls (QLD)
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Christopher Skelton
Registered Company Auditor
Partner

Brisbane
13 February 2009
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